

Contents lists available at ScienceDirect

# Surgery Open Science



journal homepage: https://www.journals.elsevier.com/surgery-open-science

# **Review** article

# Mechanobiological considerations in colorectal stapling: Implications for technology development



Alexander W. Caulk, Ph.D.\*, Monideepa Chatterjee, Ph.D., Samantha J. Barr, B.S., Elizabeth M. Contini, B.S.

Surgical Innovations, Medtronic, North Haven, CT, USA

#### ARTICLE INFO

Article history: Received 17 February 2023 Received in revised form 7 April 2023 Accepted 8 April 2023 Available online 16 April 2023

Keywords: Surgical stapling Colorectum Tissue mechanics Mechanotransduction Anastomosis Wound healing

# ABSTRACT

Technological advancements in minimally invasive surgery have led to significant improvements in patient outcomes. One such technology is surgical stapling, which has evolved into a key component of many operating rooms by facilitating ease and efficacy in resection and repair of diseased or otherwise compromised tissue. Despite such advancements, adverse post-operative outcomes such as anastomotic leak remain a persistent problem in surgical stapling and its correlates (i.e., hand-sewing), most notably in low colorectal or coloanal procedures. Many factors may drive anastomotic leaks, including tissue perfusion, microbiome composition, and patient factors such as pre-existing disease. Surgical intervention induces complex acute and chronic changes to the mechanical environment of the tissue; however, roles of mechanical forces in post-operative healing remain poorly characterized. It is well known that cells sense and respond to their local mechanical environment and that dysfunction of this "mechanosensing" phenomenon contributes to a myriad of diseases. Mechanosensing has been investigated in wound healing contexts such as dermal incisional and excisional wounds and development of pressure ulcers; however, reports investigating roles of mechanical forces in adverse postoperative gastrointestinal wound healing are lacking. To understand this relationship well, it is critical to understand: 1) the intraoperative material responses of tissue to surgical intervention, and 2) the post-operative mechanobiological response of the tissue to surgically imposed forces. In this review, we summarize the state of the field in each of these contexts while highlighting areas of opportunity for discovery and innovation which can positively impact patient outcomes in minimally invasive surgery.

© 2023 The Authors. Published by Elsevier Inc. This is an open access article under the CC BY-NC-ND license (http:// creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc-nd/4.0/).

#### Contents

Introduction	. 55
Stapling overview	. 55
Stapling design features	. 55
Stapling in colorectal applications	. 56
Colorectal tissue mechanics	. 56
Anatomy and microstructure	. 58
Material testing and characterization.	. 58
Material modeling and simulation of the colon $\ldots$	. 59
Colorectal mechanobiology	. 59
Mechanics as an input to anastomotic healing	. 60
Mechanics as an output of anastomotic healing	. 60
Conclusions and remaining gaps	. 62
Funding sources	. 62
Ethical approval statement.	. 62
CRediT authorship contribution statement.	. 62
References	. 62

\* Corresponding author at: 60 Middletown Ave., North Haven, CT 06473, USA. *E-mail address:* alex.w.caulk@medtronic.com (A.W. Caulk).

#### https://doi.org/10.1016/j.sopen.2023.04.004

2589-8450/@ 2023 The Authors. Published by Elsevier Inc. This is an open access article under the CC BY-NC-ND license (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc-nd/4.0/).

#### Introduction

Surgical techniques and associated technology have made significant progress in the last 50 years, most notably with the advancement of minimally invasive surgery (MIS). Surgical stapling is a significant component of MIS and is implemented in a variety of interventions. These advancements have resulted in improvements to clinical outcomes such as faster recovery and shorter length of hospital stay [1]. Despite these advancements, adverse clinical outcomes such as anastomotic leak and stricture remain a persisting problem in challenging stapling applications. Etiologies for these adverse outcomes are multifactorial and are thought to include malnutrition, immunosuppression, diabetes mellitus, radiation or oral antiinflammatory treatments, and microbiome composition [2-4]. One potential factor that remains poorly understood is the relationship between the local mechanical environment and maladaptive tissue remodeling. Surgical stapling is principally a mechanical intervention that imposes a complex combination of mechanical loads on tissue. To properly understand roles of mechanics in downstream clinical outcomes, it is critical to first understand: 1) the material properties of the target tissue, including effects of age, sex, ethnicity, disease state, etc., 2) the loads applied to the target tissue during intervention, and 3) the temporal post-operative changes to the structure-function relationship of the tissue in response to surgically applied loads.

Roles of the local mechanical environment in disease progression and tissue remodeling are well established in many contexts [5]. Mechanical homeostasis is maintained at three levels: 1) proper regulation of the mechanical properties of the extracellular matrix, 2) proper cell-matrix adhesion and interaction via transmembrane proteins (e.g., integrins via "inside-out signaling"), and 3) proper intracellular signaling in response to cell-matrix interactions (termed "mechanosensing" via "outside-in signaling") (Fig. 1). Clinical pathologies can arise from disruption at any of these levels, e.g., cells may properly adhere and respond to a dysfunctional matrix, or dysfunctional adhesion proteins may inhibit proper binding of the cell to a functional matrix. In this review we aim to summarize current evidence and relevant knowledge gaps in colorectal tissue which details tissue material properties (i.e., load-bearing properties of the extracellular matrix), magnitudes and types of surgically imposed forces, and cellular responses to loading under normal and pathological settings. Proper understanding of these topics will shed light on potential mechanobiological mechanisms driving adverse clinical outcomes in colorectal surgical stapling.

#### **Stapling overview**

Surgical stapling is performed to remove diseased or damaged tissue (i.e., resection) or to repair a defect (i.e., anastomosis). In either case, the phases of the stapling process remain the same: 1) grasping of tissue, 2) compression of tissue in locations where staples are to be deployed, 3) delivery of staples to join apposing layers of tissue and maintain adequate compression, and 4) transection to remove undesired tissue. Regardless of the target outcome (i.e., resection or repair) or tissue of interest, optimal tissue compression should be sufficiently high to achieve adequate hemostasis and prevent luminal content leakage into the adjacent space; conversely, tissue compression should be sufficiently low to promote adequate blood flow and wound healing at the site of transection. Given the variety of biological structures and physiological demands that exist across surgical stapling applications, medical device manufacturers have incorporated various design features in staplers to promote an optimal compression profile in as many applications as possible.

**Stapling design features.** Broadly, staplers are typically designed in linear platforms for resection and circular platforms for anastomotic repair and can be implemented in open or laparoscopic applications. Design considerations in each of these platforms are based on a variety of technical, usability, and cost demands; however, targeting optimal compression drives certain design considerations across all manufacturers and device platforms. Most notably, all major manufacturers offer multiple sizes of staplers which compress to differing final thicknesses to provide surgeons the opportunity to tailor delivery of staples based on the tissue geometry and material properties. The ranges of final thicknesses are driven by the "closed height" of the staples after the staples have been delivered to the tissue. Final form of staple delivery differs by manufacturer with some offering 2 vs. 3 rows of staples on either side of the transection line, varied vs. uniform height staples, and 2-D vs. 3-D staple formation [6].

Given the importance of the underlying tissue properties in achieving optimal staple formation, many have sought to provide greater control of applied compression prior to deployment of staples, with some offering manually adjustable compression within a defined range [7] and others monitoring the clamping pressure on tissue to ensure adequate compression [8]. In other contexts where compression is not a regulated variable, loading information can still be leveraged to regulate the rate of staple deployment and tissue transection to account for differences in tissue properties to improve staple formation [9,10]. While these design features constitute a significant step forward in stapling,



Fig. 1. Graphical depiction of extracellular and intracellular mechanosensing mechanisms. Intracellular signaling activity can activate integrin-mediated extracellular matrix (ECM) assembly, cell adhesion, and migration ("inside-out" signaling). In contrast, integrin binding to varying ECM fibers activate cellular responses such as cell survival and proliferation, gene expression, and changes to the cytoskeletal structure.

there remains little data to suggest what the optimal compression should be and how such values might differ based on tissue type and/ or patient demographics and medical history.

**Stapling in colorectal applications.** Colorectal surgery is used to treat a variety of diseases including colorectal cancer, Crohn's Disease, and ulcerative colitis. In the US alone, there were more than 150,000 new cases of colorectal cancer in 2022, and inflammatory bowel diseases were estimated to affect more than 3 million adults in 2015 [11,12]. Many of these cases are treated with partial or total surgical resection, in which diseased or compromised tissue is isolated and removed. Following resection, the defect is repaired through creation of a colostomy or an intestinal anastomosis.

During the repair process, extension of the bowel segments increases the global longitudinal stress on the tissue, the degree to which depends on the amount of tissue resected and the distance remaining between the open segments. To successfully accomplish the repair, tissue must be compressed to facilitate ease of staple delivery and hemostasis after resection. This action locally increases the radial stress on the tissue, the degree to which depends on the magnitude of compression, which is determined by the material geometry and properties as well as the choice of stapler cartridge (Fig. 2). Many reports consider only the material geometry (e.g., tissue thickness) when discussing applied loads in stapling and neglect the material properties altogether. However, two tissues of identical geometry with different material properties may develop markedly different radial stresses during compression due to differences in material stiffness. Lastly, staples are deployed radially through the tissue to secure the ends of the tissue together, and a circular knife is advanced to remove unwanted tissue obstructing the colonic lumen, at which point radial stress is applied only by the remaining staples rather than by the stapler cartridge and anvil. The radial stress applied by the staples serves to maintain tissue apposition which inhibits bowel content leakage into the peritoneal space, maintains hemostasis at the site of transection, and affects wound healing via regulation of local perfusion and (presumably) via mechanosensitive cellular pathways.

Many post-operative complications can arise following the creation of an intestinal anastomosis, the most serious of which are anastomotic leaks. Leak rates differ depending on the anatomical location of the anastomosis, with enteroenteric anastomoses having the lowest rates of 1-2 % and colorectal/coloanal anastomoses having rates as high as 19 % [4]. Many pre-operative factors may predispose to anastomotic leaks including sex, health status (e.g., diabetic), and lifestyle as well as intraoperative factors such as duration of surgery, antibiotic administration, and surgical technique [2,13]. Still, the clinical effects of tissue compression on anastomotic leak remain unknown as intraoperative and postoperative data on tissue properties and/or loads applied to the site of anastomosis are difficult or impossible to obtain. Though differences in tissue material properties *per se* are not risk factors for anastomotic leaks, many preoperative risk factors are associated with changes to tissue properties in colorectal and/or other contexts, including diabetes [14,15], diet [16,17], and radiotherapy [18], suggesting a clear role of tissue material properties in informing surgical technique.

Risk factors for anastomotic leak may be further stratified by the postoperative day on which the leak occurs, supporting the need to understand pre- and intraoperative factors which drive differential downstream responses (i.e., mechanobiological responses). Early anastomotic leaks before postoperative day 3 are driven primarily by intraoperative factors, namely, surgical technique, whereas late anastomotic leaks after postoperative day 20 are driven primarily by patientrelated factors [19]. It remains unclear how surgical technique and/or patient-related factors should drive determination of the optimal compression profile in surgical stapling.

#### **Colorectal tissue mechanics**

Efficient and efficacious design of surgical staplers requires a detailed understanding of the material behavior of the tissue subjected to stapling procedures. Further, to properly investigate mechanobiological responses of the tissue to surgical stapling procedures, it is first critical to understand and accurately predict the mechanical forces which are applied during resection and repair. This understanding comes from experimental data in tissue subjected to various loading conditions, but insight may be further derived from analytical and computational techniques that provide the capacity to predict material responses to a given applied load or deformation. Much work exists in the field of colorectal tissue mechanics [20,21], with emphases placed on relationships between mechanics and visceral pain sensation, disease diagnosis, and model development. We will here review advancements in material characterization and modeling of colon with a focus on data which are relevant to surgical stapling (Table 1). We also highlight areas in the



**Fig. 2.** Mechanical loads applied to colon during surgical resection and repair. Apposition of two ends of colon following surgical resection induces a global longitudinal tensile stress (denoted by  $\sigma_L$  and a positive sign convention for tensile load). The longitudinal stress is developed due to the force required to bring the blind ends together. Following tissue apposition, the tissue is compressed by the staples or suture, inducing a local compressive radial stress (denoted by  $\sigma_r$  and a negative sign convention for compressive load). The compressive stress is developed due to the force applied by the staples or suture, inducing a local compressive radial stress (denoted by  $\sigma_r$  and a negative sign convention for compressive load). The compressive stress is developed due to the force applied by the staples or suture.

#### Table 1

Selected available biomechanical data in colon. Methods: uniaxial and biaxial cylindrical tensile (uniax, biax cyl), uniaxial strip tensile (uniax strip), planar biaxial tensile (planar biax), unconfined uniaxial compression (uniax comp), inflation, indentation, and elastography. Orientations: circumferential (circ), axial (ax), and radial (rad). Regions: ascending (asc), transverse (trans), descending (desc), sigmoid (sig), rectum, spiral (swine only), proximal (prox, rodent/swine only), distal (dist, rodent/swine only). Outputs: stress, strain, pressure-volume, pressure-CSA, elastic or shear modulus, and ultimate tensile strength (UTS).

Species	Condition	Test method	Orientations	Layers?	Regions	Output metric	Experimental variable	Reference
Goat —	In vitro	Uniax comp	Rad	Ν	Unknown	Stress-strain	Loading rate, test condition	Higa et al. [50]
	In vivo	Uniax comp	Rad	Ν	Unknown	Stress-strain	Loading rate, test condition	Higa et al. [50]
Human	In vitro	Uniax strip Uniax strip Uniax strip Uniax strip Uniax strip Uniax cyl Uniax strip Indentation Uniax strip Planar biax Uniax comp	Circ, Ax Circ, Ax Ax Circ, Ax Circ, Ax Circ Circ, Ax Rad Circ Circ, Ax Rad	N N N Y N Y N	Asc, trans, desc, sig Asc, trans, desc, sig Asc, trans, desc, sig Unknown Unknown Asc, trans, desc, sig Sig, rectum Unknown Rectum Asc, trans, desc, sig Unknown	Elastic modulus, UTS Elastic modulus, UTS Elastic modulus, UTS Stress, strain, UTS Stress, strain, UTS UTS, relaxation UTS, modulus Elastic modulus Length-tension Stress-strain Stress-strain, modulus	Taenia coli Loading rate, taenia coli Tissue storage, sex, age Taenia coli Tissue storage, taenia coli Genetic background Species Inflammation, species Contractility Model development Colitis, fibrosis	Massalou et al. [42] Massalou et al. [40] Massalou et al. [41] Egorov et al. [39] Egorov et al. [140] Watters et al. [38] Christensen et al. [45] Stewart et al. [44] Glavind et al. [143] Howes and Hardy [144] Stidham et al. [37]
	In vivo	Inflation Inflation Inflation Inflation Inflation Inflation Inflation Inflation Elastography	Circ Circ Circ Circ Circ Circ Circ Circ	N N N N N N N	Asc, desc Rectum Rectum Sig, rectum Rectum Rectum Various colon, rectum Rectum Sig, rectum Unknown	Pressure-volume Pressure-volume Elastic modulus Pressure-CSA Pressure-volume Pressure-volume Pressure-volume Pressure-volume Elastic modulus	Loading rate, contractility Diverticular disease Model development Visceral pain Sex, age, visceral pain Visceral pain, contractility Diverticular disease Model development IBS, sensory function Colitis, fibrosis	Bharucha et al. [33] Smith et al. [36] Dall et al. [32] Petersen et al. [34] Sloots et al. [35] Drewes et al. [137] Parks [138] Arhan et al. [136] Drewes et al. [139] Stidham et al. [37]
Mouse	In vitro	Planar biax Planar biax Indentation Uniax strip Inflation	Circ, Ax Circ, Ax Rad Ax Circ, Ax	N Y N N	Distal, rectum Distal, rectum Unknown Unknown Dist	Stress-strain Stress-strain Elastic modulus Stress-strain, UTS, modulus Stress-strain	Model development Model development Species Colitis Colitis	Siri et al. [56] Siri et al. [142] Stewart et al. [44] Gong et al. [145] Yang et al. [146]
Rabbit	In vitro	Inflation	Circ	Ν	Mid	Stress-strain	Fiber-based diet	Liu et al. [16]
Rat	In vitro	Inflation Biax cyl Biax cyl Inflation Indentation Uniax comp Uniax cyl Elastography	Circ, Ax Circ, Ax Circ, Ax Circ Rad Rad Circ Rad	N N N N N N N	Asc, trans, desc, rectum Asc, trans, desc, rectum Asc, trans, desc, rectum Mid Prox Prox, dist Unknown Prox, dist	Stress-strain Stress-strain Stress-strain Elastic modulus Stress-strain, modulus Stress-strain, UTS, modulus Elastic modulus	Model development Model development Diabetes Hypertension, loading rate Colitis, fibrosis Sex, age, tissue storage Colitis, fibrosis	Gao and Gregersen [147] Sokolis et al. [48] Sokolis and Sassani [49] Zhao et al. [135] Stewart et al. [148] Stidham et al. [37] Watters et al. [149] Stidham et al. [37]
Swine	In vitro	Uniax strip Uniax strip, shear Biax cyl Planar biax Uniax comp Indentation Uniax strip Uniax strip Uniax strip Uniax strip	Circ, Ax Circ, Ax Circ, Ax Circ, Ax Rad Rad Circ, Ax Circ, Ax, Rad Circ, Ax	N N N N Y N N	Desc (prox, med, dist) Unknown Spiral, desc Spiral (prox, dist), desc Unknown Unknown Spiral Rectum Spiral	UTS, modulus Stress-strain Stress-strain Stress-strain Stress-strain, stress relaxation Elastic modulus Stress-strain Stress-strain, modulus, Poisson's ratio Stress-strain, modulus, Poisson's ratio	Species Model development Model development Model development Model development Species Taenia coli, off-axis, model development Model development	Christensen et al. [45] Ciarletta et al. [63] Patel et al. [53] Puértolas et al. [47] Rosen et al. [51] Stewart et al. [44] Carniel et al. [46] Qiao et al. [141] Carniel et al. [62]

57

field which require further development to provide greater insight into the local mechanical environment of the tissue during surgical stapling procedures.

**Anatomy and microstructure.** In humans, the colon can be divided into the ascending, transverse, descending, and sigmoid colon followed by the rectum. Folds within the colon known as haustra arise due to contraction of longitudinally oriented fibers of smooth muscle called taenia coli which support diameter reduction during contraction [22]. These folds exist along the entire length of the colon except for the rectum, at which point the taenia coli expand from longitudinal fibers to an entire layer.

Because of the extensive use of animal models in material characterization of colon as well as medical device testing, it is important also to understand differences between the human colon and animal models of interest. The anatomical features of the colon in various animals have some similarity to humans, though none are exactly alike [23]. Porcine colon is much longer and lacks the regional differentiation of human colon, instead being oriented in a spiral formation from the cecum to the descending colon [24]. The canine colon more closely resembles the human colon in its regional differentiation, though it lacks a clear sigmoid region prior to the rectum. The canine colon also lacks the visible haustra of the human and porcine colon [23], though haustra in porcine colon are limited to the spiral region and not the distal region. The rodent colon, though helpful for high-throughput and mechanistic investigations, has significant limitations with regards to its anatomical and physiological similarity to humans. For instance, rat colon does not contain haustra and has a relatively shorter length than that of humans

Histologically, the colon is divided into five distinct layers: the mucosa – the inner layer of the tissue consisting of epithelial cells and smooth muscle cells, the submucosa – a fibrous layer and primary contributor to the tissue's tensile strength, the muscularis externa – two layers of smooth muscle cells oriented circumferentially (inner layer) and longitudinally (outer layer), and the serosa – the outermost layer of the tissue consisting of mesothelial cells which secrete fluid for lubrication. The rectum alone contains an additional layer of muscle where the taenia coli expand from fibers to an entire layer and contains squamous rather than columnar epithelial cells.

The predominant component of the submucosa tissue matrix is collagen, most of which is collagen I (68 %), followed by collagen III (20 %) and collagen V (12 %) [25]. The degradation of the matrix is regulated by matrix metalloproteinases (MMPs), a broad class of proteases that selectively catabolize various structural proteins. In turn, MMP activity is inhibited by tissue inhibitors of metalloproteinases (TIMPs). Together, MMPs and TIMPs regulate the composition and mechanical integrity of the tissue matrix [26]. Viscoelastic and biphasic properties of the tissue are regulated through relatively low but significant levels of elastin and proteoglycans [27,28]. These proteins additionally play biological roles through their sequestration of growth factor cytokines [29,30]. Clinically, lower collagen I/III ratio and higher MMP- 1, 2, and 9 levels are associated with anastomotic leaks [31]. Thus, the underlying biological causes and mechanical consequences of these aberrations should be further investigated as a potential target for intervention.

**Material testing and characterization.** Clinical evaluation of normal and pathophysiologic function of the colon relies in part on understanding the structural properties of the tissue; namely, distensibility calculations via impedance planimetry or ultrasound. Impedance planimetry is a technique leveraging balloon distension to provide simultaneous measurements of luminal cross-sectional area and pressure, providing the basis for characterization of structural mechanical parameters such as distensibility or stiffness. Its utility is not limited to passive structural parameters as pressure changes can be detected during colonic peristalsis, thus aiding in characterization of colonic motility. Balloon distension and impedance planimetry have been implemented widely in colon and other tissues to characterize *in vivo* mechanical properties of the tissue including baseline studies [32–34,136] and investigations of age [35], sex [35], and disease state [36,137–139] on colonic compliance. Similarly, other modalities have been implemented for characterization of structural stiffness, including ultrasound elastography imaging [37]. Though helpful for diagnostics, these *in vivo* data relate primarily to circumferential properties of the tissue and provide little insight into the longitudinal and radial stresses developed during colorectal resection and repair (Fig. 2). To address this, *ex vivo* testing must be implemented.

Much *ex vivo* data is available which details the material properties of human colon. Watters et al. performed uniaxial cylindrical tensile testing on human colon samples until failure. The authors reported differences in ultimate tensile strength of the tissue as a function of anatomical region, age, and genetic background [38], with the sigmoid colon tending to have lower tensile strength compared to other regions of the tissue, and colons in patients of African descent having higher tensile strength compared with those of European descent. Differences in tensile strength were attributed to thicker tissue, thereby lowering internal stress according to Laplace's Law. This study provides detailed insight into anatomical and patient factors driving circumferential material properties of colonic tissue, but the testing modality inhibits data collection for tissue properties governing longitudinally-oriented material behavior.

Other groups have performed strip uniaxial tensile tests on circumferential and longitudinal sections of human colon without the detailed insight into differences across region, age, or genetics. Egorov et al. report circumferential tensile strength at 826 kPa [39] (compared with ranges from ~800 kPa to 1.4 MPa in Watters et al. depending on region and genetic background). Egorov et al. also tested longitudinal specimens of taenia coli and haustra. Taenia coli exhibit a bimodal axial behavior whereas the haustra exhibit a more monotonic behavior. The authors suggest that this phenomenon may be attributable to layerspecific failure as confirmed by microscopy, with muscular and serosal layers failing first while the mucosa and submucosa remain intact [140]. Massalou et al. report the most robust data set of uniaxial tensile testing in human colon (n = 336 samples from 28 donors) and report effects of loading speed on circumferential and axial material behavior with or without taenia coli [40]. A similar biphasic response was observed in both circumferential and longitudinal directions, lending support to the idea of progressive and layer-specific failure as observed by others. Similar data from the same group are reported elsewhere and further detail material differences as a function of age, sex, and anatomical region, though these data are all reported at dynamic loading speeds of 1 m/s [41,42]. Human colon material behavior has been characterized with other modalities including planar biaxial testing at high strain rates [43] and indentation [44]. Notably, indentation experiments alone have been used to quantify differences in material properties between healthy and inflamed colon in humans, showing that inflamed colon exhibits a stiffer response in compression. Similar to in vivo methods, these data are helpful for diagnostics, but indentation experiments apply compressive deformations which are significantly lower than those in surgical contexts. Extrapolation of such data to inform design of staplers and other similar devices is therefore tenuous.

Animal models have been utilized to lend further insight into biomechanical structure and function of colon. At least one study reports direct comparisons between material properties of human and porcine sigmoid colon and rectum using uniaxial strip testing and suggests statistically significant differences in ultimate tensile strength and elongation at failure between species [45]. However, medical history of the human specimens is not reported, creating difficulty in interpreting differences as driven by species, disease state, or both. Similar data have been obtained in porcine tissue by other groups [46], while others have implemented more advanced techniques for characterization of colon, including planar biaxial testing [47,142]. Smaller species such as rat and mouse further enable researchers to maintain physiological configurations through biaxial inflation-extension testing while obtaining robust multiaxial data [48,49]. Tensile data such as these are helpful for characterization but difficult to translate to surgical contexts due to lack of information regarding tensile loads developed during resection and repair. Clinical data reporting length of tissue resected would provide further insight. Data reporting longitudinal forces required to appose tissue following resection would be more helpful; however, such data are markedly more difficult to obtain and may be better suited for preclinical investigation.

Little data exist which report material response of colon under high magnitudes of compression, which is key for understanding the compressive phase of surgical stapling. Higa et al. provide helpful data reporting *in vivo* and *ex vivo* compressive responses of goat colon under different loading rates [50]. Three samples were tested under each loading condition, and the study reported lower *in vivo* stresses compared to *ex vivo* stresses under similar conditions (e.g., 120 vs. 205 kPa at a loading rate of 5 mm/s and compressive strain of 70 %). Similar data have been reported in pigs [51,141] and rats [37]. To properly inform expected loads during colorectal stapling, similar work should be performed in human colon from all relevant clinical contexts, e.g., varying age, sex, BMI, genetic background, and medical history. Doing so will provide a framework to understand load requirements for mechanical design and may also inform investigations of mechanically-mediated colonic healing.

Material modeling and simulation of the colon. While ex vivo data can facilitate understanding of native loading conditions and material requirements, limitations persist including technical, sourcing, and financial constraints which increase difficulty in fully characterizing the tissue. Thus, experimental data that give way to constitutive modeling combined with numerical simulations can improve clinical insight and efficiency. Many studies investigating material behavior of the colon also leveraged constitutive modeling to lend insight into the experimental data. These include incorporation of exponential strain energy functions to accurately capture the nonlinearity of the tissue. These strain energy functions can take various forms, ranging from purely phenomenological [48,52] to variants accounting for combinations of isotropic and anisotropic materials [46,47,49,53,54]. Puértolas et al. [47] modeled colonic data from their own planar biaxial testing using five commonly implemented constitutive models and found that the microstructurally-motivated model originally proposed by Baek et al. [55] provided the best predictive capability for the data. Such observations highlight the importance of understanding microstructural content and organization of the tissue to properly inform analytical and numerical simulations.

Constitutive formulations have been utilized to model the colon for multiple purposes. Zhao et al. modeled mouse colorectum using finite element analysis to demonstrate differences in layer-specific and anatomically disparate spatial distribution of stresses in the colon wall [54]. Simulations were validated against experimental findings from the same lab which included planar biaxial testing and inflationextension testing of whole and layer-dissected mouse colon [56]. Others have performed finite element simulations to inform mechanical parameters which may drive development of diverticulosis using material data from healthy swine colon under inflation-extension testing [57]. These data provide an excellent foundation for simulations which aim to capture detailed spatial information or inform disease progression; however, limitations exist such as the animal model of choice or lack of radial compression data which inhibits application in parametric studies of medical device design.

Others have performed parametric studies of colonic stents for design purposes, but the simulations lack detailed data regarding the material behavior of the tissue and rather focus exclusively on the properties of the stent [58,59]. Indeed, peristaltic contractions are modeled with imposed displacements [59] rather than on interactions between the tissue and device, which have been modeled in other contexts such as esophagus [60]. Investigations of surgical stapler performance have been performed numerically by leveraging compressive material properties of porcine colon, but the material model is purely phenomenological [52]. Notably, these simulations lack consideration of the viscoelastic behavior of the tissue which has been shown experimentally in gastrointestinal tissue and modeled numerically [61-63]. Such a gap highlights the need for experimental, analytical, and computational testing of tissue under clinically relevant loading conditions. For example, tissue testing and modeling should comprise compression speeds which are typically implemented with surgical staplers. Quantifying spatial and temporal changes in stresses imposed by staples after intraoperative deployment will better inform biological responses which may lead to adverse postoperative outcomes such as anastomotic leak. Realization of such experimental data and modeling capabilities will not only support enhanced capacity for parametric studies in device design but also future efforts to implement computational models as diagnostic tools which can inform intraoperative and postoperative decision-making (i.e., the digital twin) [64].

# Colorectal mechanobiology

Extensive data exist regarding mechanosensing and mechanotransduction in the colon relating to visceral sensation and physiological function (e.g., motility). It is not the intent of this review to recapitulate the data available in these spaces, and the interested reader is referred to multiple excellent reviews [65–69]. While these data are helpful in understanding structure and function of the colon, little data exist which demonstrate roles of applied mechanical forces in maladaptive colonic remodeling. Therefore, our aim is to summarize the data that do exist with specific focus on surgical applications and highlight relevant knowledge gaps which require further investigation.

Roles of mechanical forces in growth and remodeling of tissue are well established in a variety of fields. Mechanical loading drives embryological development [70], homeostatic maintenance of tissue structure and function [71,72], and adaptation to endogenous and exogenous stimuli [73-77] through feedback mechanisms between a cell's intracellular tension and the matrix's exerted stiffness to remodel the matrix. In each of these contexts, it is critical to establish relevant loading conditions, microstructural environment, and cell populations of interest. Each cell type in the colon experiences a variety of complex mechanical stimuli which depend on physiological demands, disease states, and exogenous interventions, and virtually all cell types residing in the colon contain subpopulations which act as mechanosensors [66,78]. The predominant cell population in the healthy adult colon is epithelial cells, with smaller levels of endothelial, fibroblast, mesenchymal, B, and T/ NK cells; recent advances in spatiotemporal transcriptomics have begun to identify diversity within each of these cell populations that may predict disease formation [79].

Fibroblasts and myofibroblasts are among the most well-studied cell populations known to drive matrix remodeling in a variety of tissues. Fibroblasts respond to their microenvironment stiffness and deposit collagen or secrete MMPs to increase or decrease stiffness, respectively, to achieve homeostasis [80]. Through mechanical stress from ECM stiffness, activation of TGF-1 $\beta$ , and binding to integrin  $\alpha V$ , fibroblasts undergo phenotypic transformation to contractile myofibroblasts, through activation of the contractile protein  $\alpha$ SMA [81]. Due to their contractile ability, myofibroblasts are ubiquitous in dermal wound closure [82], and have also been found in other contexts to tension the extracellular matrix and repair the tissue [83,84]. However, prolonged presence or chronic dysregulation of these myofibroblasts leads to excessive matrix deposition, crosslinking, and ultimate stiffening, and has been associated in tumor progression and Crohn's disease [85]. Epithelial cells lining the mucosa are responsible for the highly regenerative capacity of the colon lining [86]. However, in cases of chronic inflammation, epithelial cells can lose their regenerative capacity, and instead undergo epidermal differentiation due to increased intracellular mechanotransduction from the YAP-TAZ/β-catenin pathway [87]. In addition to inflammatory diseases local to the gastrointestinal tract, disease arising from diabetes and obesity also cause systemic chronic inflammation [88], thereby potentially altering the regenerative capacity of the tissue through impaired mechanotransduction.

Fluid shear stress on the colonic epithelium is intermittent due to peristaltic contractions and highly dependent on mucus and fecal properties as well as rate of propulsion [89]. Mechanical stretch of the colonic epithelium drives balance of cell proliferation and apoptosis to maintain homeostasis in epithelial turnover [90]. Similarly, mechanical stretch of colonic smooth muscle stimulates TGF $\beta$ 1 and  $\alpha$ 1 collagen expression [91]. The critical role of mechanical loading in maintaining homeostasis is exemplified in a bioreactor of human colonic biopsies, where perfusion-culture maintained microenvironment architecture and cell populations superior to static-culture [92]. These functions and many more contribute to structural and physiological homeostasis of the tissue, and while perturbations to these parameters have been investigated in the context of disease progression, rarely has the relationship between surgically applied forces and postoperative outcomes been evaluated in colorectal contexts.

**Mechanics as an input to anastomotic healing.** Colorectal surgery necessarily requires transection of tissue to remove diseased tissue as well as combined compression and tension to repair remaining tissue. Consequently, two tissue remodeling cascades may occur simultaneously: 1) mechanically-mediated growth and remodeling of native tissue due to compression and tension, 2) tissue regeneration and repair in response to transection. Though these responses may work simultaneously and synergistically to restore function to the tissue, it is likely that disparate underlying signaling pathways drive these processes, and each process should be understood independently to optimize opportunities to reduce adverse postoperative outcomes.

Many fundamental studies have elucidated roles of mechanics in classic wound healing contexts, namely, following incisional or excisional dermal wounds [93]. In vitro and in vivo studies together have demonstrated efficacy of tension reduction in promotion of regenerative rather than fibrotic wound healing [94,95]. Interestingly, large animal studies have revealed a key role of classical mechanotransduction pathways in profibrotic wound healing and demonstrate further that disruption of these pathways during normal wound healing can accelerate the healing process toward a regenerative skin phenotype [96]. While these studies and others are helpful in establishing the precedent of mechanically-mediated signaling in wound healing, the results do not necessarily translate to colonic wound healing following surgical intervention due to significant differences in cell populations, extracellular matrix structural content, microbiological environment, and mechanical loading. Indeed, though detailed mechanistic studies of mechanotransduction in colonic wound healing are lacking, a recent study demonstrated a critical role of YAP/TAZ signaling in proper repair of the colonic epithelium in response to colitis-induced injury [97]. This observation appears to contrast with results obtained in mechanicallymediated skin regeneration [96], but the differences may lie not only in physiological differences between colon and skin, but also in animal model of choice (i.e., pig vs. mouse) or wound model of choice (i.e., excisional wound vs. ulceration). Still, the observations highlight the need for additional studies in mechanically-mediated colonic wound healing to better elucidate mechanisms which may promote adverse postoperative outcomes such as anastomotic leak.

Perhaps the most relevant study investigating roles of mechanics in anastomotic healing systematically evaluated differences in suture placement and applied tension to suture on downstream vascularization of anastomotic wounds in rats [98]. The study investigates loads applied to the site of anastomosis by varying uniformity of compression (i.e., short vs. long interrupted sutures, cf. Fig. 3A illustrating distances between sutures) and magnitude of compression (Fig. 3B illustrating qualitative categories of suture tension and subsequent tissue compression). The study found that long interrupted sutures were insufficient for preventing mucosal prolapse regardless of the magnitude of compression, and more uniform compression (i.e., short interrupted suture) promoted better tissue apposition and wound healing with a "moderate" suture tension, pointing to the role of compressive force in optimizing the wound healing cascade. As recently as 2013, a systematic review investigating a variety of variables in colorectal anastomosis technique which may affect postoperative outcomes reports that Waninger et al. remains the only study in which suture tension (and thus applied compressive pressure) is systematically investigated as a variable driving anastomotic healing [99]. Although such studies remain lacking, interest in compression as a mediator of colonic remodeling appears to remain. Indeed, devices for performing compression anastomoses continue to reside in the market and tout better compression profiles in creation of colorectal anastomoses as a driver of better wound healing in preclinical models [100,101].

Still, the "optimal applied force" in colorectal anastomoses remains unknown and an area of interest for many surgeons and manufacturers [102]. While none have quantitatively demonstrated a direct link between tissue compression and anastomotic leak, some studies have systematically investigated the influence of applied compression on tissue damage [103–109]. Various markers are used to guantify tissue damage including apoptosis [104,106,109], necrosis [106,109], inflammation [104,107], matrix damage [110,111], gross structural changes [103,107,108,112], and functional physiological changes (e.g., loss of vasocontractility) [105]. In the few studies directly investigating colon, at least one report details statistically significant changes to muscular cross-sectional area with applied pressures exceeding 96 psi applied for at least 60 s or 222 psi applied for as little as 5 s. The authors do not explicitly identify a "safe" threshold of compression, but others report maximum applied pressures of 87 psi to achieve patent anastomoses, suggesting that pressures need not exceed this value for proper tissue apposition and therefore should not exceed this value to minimize tissue trauma (though tissue trauma is not explicitly investigated in this study) [102]. These numbers follow closely with ex vivo evaluations of compression-induced trauma to human colon in which histopathologic scoring revealed a conservative cutoff of 50 psi to minimize tissue trauma [112]. The agreement between compressive loads which induce tissue trauma and those which are sufficient for patent anastomoses highlight a potential relationship between gross tissue trauma and optimal postoperative healing. None of these reports investigate cellular responses to applied forces, and those that do prescribe deformations rather than loads [106,109] or investigate significantly lower maximum pressures (e.g., 1.38 psi in rat arteries [105], 34.8 psi in porcine small bowel, liver, and ureter [104], 7.98 psi in rabbit small bowel [107]). However, a link between acute or subchronic tissue damage and anastomotic leak (or other forms of maladaptive tissue remodeling) has yet to be firmly established.

Importantly, the "optimal" compression profile (i.e., magnitude, rate, and duration of applied compression) must not be a one size fits all value, but rather a tailored value which considers patient factors as well as preoperative and intraoperative data to promote regenerative healing processes in a patient-specific manner. Many investigators are beginning to recognize the opportunity to leverage combined experimental and computational data to identify relevant mechanical parameters in tissue damage [73] and wound healing cascades [113] which open further opportunity to leverage state-of-the-art models toward patient-specific surgery. However, patient-specific surgery can only be achieved by the generation of significant amounts of data to aid in understanding the complex interplay between mechanics, tissue remodeling, and wound healing in clinically relevant disease contexts.

**Mechanics as an output of anastomotic healing.** While the precise mechanical mechanisms influencing anastomotic healing remain under-characterized, mechanical strength stands as a gold standard in evaluating anastomotic integrity [114,115]. Studies investigating



**Fig. 3.** Summary of suturing conditions implemented in the study by Waninger et al. Experimental groups consisted of low, moderate, and high applied pressure at the site of apposition (denoted by groups 1, 2, and 3, respectively) and high and low suture distance (denoted by groups A and B, respectively). Together, these conditions created six experimental groups which systematically interrogated the effects of compression magnitude and uniformity on the healing of colonic anastomoses in rats. Figure is reproduced with permissions from Elsevier and the American Journal of Surgery.

various contributors to anastomotic healing abound, and many investigators utilize metrics which directly or indirectly relate to the mechanics of the tissue; namely, burst testing or tensile testing as a metric for anastomotic strength and/or collagen deposition or hydroxyproline expression as a metric for appropriate extracellular matrix remodeling. These metrics and others provide a relatively consistent methodology for evaluating specific variables as mediators of anastomotic wound healing.

Because of the high-throughput nature and greater degree of control in rodent models, most anastomotic healing studies are performed in rats or mice. These most often include sutured anastomoses rather than stapled due to the size limitations of the animals; however, the information obtained from these studies can still translate well to stapling applications. One key area of investigation is the relationship between nutrition, colonic microbial content (i.e., the microbiome), and alteration of tissue mechanical properties via enzymatic degradation of collagen. At least one study demonstrated an increase in tensile strength of colonic anastomoses at postoperative day 21 with proper preoperative feeding compared to malnourished controls [116]. This observation was correlated with increased expression of collagen type I and an increased collagen maturation index. This study did not systematically evaluate dietary content but simply altered the total intake of food for malnourished and preoperative feeding groups. However, others have investigated roles of specific micronutrients in activating enzymatic pathways. Insulin and galacto-oligosaccharides supplemented for 2 weeks prior to surgery increased hydroxyproline content and reduced enzymatic activity of matrix metalloproteinase 9 (MMP-9) at postoperative day 6 in mice [117]. These observations correlated with increased anastomotic healing score defined by enhanced mucosal and muscular continuity and re-epithelialization. Similarly, other groups have shown increased risk of anastomotic leak in mice fed with a high-fat/low-fiber or "western" diet compared with chow-fed controls, an observation that is reversible with a short course of standard chow preoperative feeding for 1 week [118]. Though the study does not explicitly investigate collagen content, the authors report increased content of collagenolytic *E. faecalis*, a bacterial strain which has been shown by the same lab to induce MMP-9 activation, reduce collagen content, and potentiate anastomotic leaks in mice [119].

Other variables have been investigated in the context of anastomotic healing using similar analyses of anastomotic strength. Preoperative treatments and/or conditions which may alter tissue structure and function have been evaluated as an input to anastomotic healing. Preoperative radiotherapy is a significant consideration given its possible association with clinical anastomotic leaks [4]. When leveraging burst strength or collagen content as an indicator for anastomotic healing, preclinical models are conflicting regarding roles of preoperative radiotherapy, with some suggesting no difference in burst strength [115,120] or similar metrics [121] while others report a decrease in burst strength with radiotherapy [122,123]. Interestingly, while some suggest that radiotherapy alone is not sufficient to induce anastomotic leak, one study suggests that radiotherapy applied in more highly collagenolytic environments significantly predisposes to leak via enhanced MMP activation [121]. Conversely, the single study demonstrating sufficiency of radiotherapy to impair anastomotic wound healing also demonstrates a beneficial effect of soluble fiber administration in reducing MMP-2 activation and improving burst strength [122]. Other studies similarly evaluate variables such as hypoxia in the development of anastomotic leaks with similar disagreement among studies [124–126]. Importantly, the use of rodent models offers the opportunity to evaluate anastomotic healing propensity in the context of clinically relevant diseases such as diabetes [127], colitis [128,129], and other conditions [130].

Though mechanical properties of the tissue are a helpful tool for evaluating these and other variables in anastomotic healing, it is noteworthy that many of these variables may alter the material properties of the tissue prior to surgical intervention and formation of anastomoses. Gamma radiation drives collagen damage and remodeling in rat tail tendon [131], and although this phenomenon has not been reported explicitly in colon, reports detailing changes to proteolytic enzyme activity and edema following irradiation point to possible preoperative changes to tissue properties which may affect the "optimal" compression during creation of intestinal anastomosis [132,133]. Similarly, tissue remodeling in the context of diabetes [14,134,135] combined with altered wound healing capacity suggests a need for tailored treatment of the tissue during creation of anastomosis.

#### **Conclusions and remaining gaps**

It is well-established that the tissue's mechanical environment, both from intrinsic, composition-imparted mechanical properties, as well as external mechanical forces, influences the cellular response, and vice versa, through mechanotransduction pathways. However, the optimal mechanical stapling profiles remain unknown due to an incomplete understanding of the full mechanical environment of colon. Experimental characterization of the local mechanical environment will help to understand loads sensed by the intramural cells. The consequences of the mechanical environment on cellular responses and healing following stapling are largely unknown. Principles of wound healing from stapling borrows largely from dermal wound healing, which lacks some of the specialized cell types, structure, and mechanical environment of the colon. Furthermore, there are biological effects from the stapling loads that may activate additional healing cascades. Thus, there is a gap in the understanding of the specific mediators of improved and aberrant healing processes. Here, there is an opportunity for the field to increasingly leverage cellular and molecular biology technologies to evaluate the effects of mechanical loading in colonic wound healing. Taken together, improved characterization and understanding of the interplay between mechanics and biology of the colon can lead to optimal, patient-specific stapling technologies to improve clinical outcomes.

## **Funding sources**

The research and writing for this review were sponsored and funded by Medtronic (Minneapolis, MN, USA) and we thank the company for its support.

#### Ethical approval statement

Development of this review did not involve author participation in studies with human or animal subjects and therefore did not require institutional ethical review.

## **CRediT authorship contribution statement**

A.W.C. conceived of the manuscript, reviewed all relevant literature topics, and drafted supporting text, figures, and tables. M.C. reviewed tissue mechanics and mechanobiology literature and drafted supporting text and figs. S.J.B. reviewed mechanobiology literature and drafted supporting text. E.M.C. reviewed clinical stapling literature and drafted supporting text.

#### **Conflicts of interest**

A.W.C., M.C., S.J.B., and E.M.C. are or were employees of Medtronic PLC when contributing to the development of this report.

#### References

- Veldkamp R, Kuhry E, Hop WC, Jeekel J, Kazemier G, Bonjer HJ, et al. Laparoscopic surgery versus open surgery for colon cancer: short-term outcomes of a randomised trial. Lancet Oncol. Jul 1 2005;6(7):477–84.
- [2] Thomas MS, Margolin DA. Management of colorectal anastomotic leak. Clin Colon Rectal Surg. Jun 2016;29(2):138–44.
- [3] Hajjar R, Santos MM, Dagbert F, Richard CS. Current evidence on the relation between gut microbiota and intestinal anastomotic leak in colorectal surgery. Am J Surg. Nov 1 2019;218(5):1000–7.
- [4] McDermott FD, Heeney A, Kelly ME, Steele RJ, Carlson GL, Winter DC. Systematic review of preoperative, intraoperative and postoperative risk factors for colorectal anastomotic leaks. Br J Surg. Apr 1 2015;102(5):462–79.
- [5] Ingber D. Mechanobiology and diseases of mechanotransduction. Ann Med. Jan 1 2003;35(8):564–77.
- [6] Eschbach M, Sindberg GM, Godek ML, Nagelschmidt M, Paquette N, Wegener M, et al. Micro-CT imaging as a method for comparing perfusion in graduatedheight and single-height surgical staple lines. Med Devices (Auckl). Aug 2018;15 (11):267–73.
- [7] Shivdekar S, Rojatkar P, Cummings JF, Clymer JW, Ricketts CD, Petraiuolo WJ. Comparison of circular staplers with adjustable staple height vs. fixed graduated staple height. Gen Surg. 2021;4:6.
- [8] Galetta D, Casiraghi M, Pardolesi A, Borri A, Spaggiari L. New stapling devices in robotic surgery. J Visualized Surg. 2017.;3 Available from:. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih. gov/pmc/articles/PMC5637468/. Available from: [Internet, cited 2022 Jun 7].
- [9] Schofield A, McQuillan P, Kanhere H, Prasad S. How to do a thoracoscopic-assisted oesophagectomy with oesophagogastric anastomosis using a circular stapler. ANZ J Surg. 2021;91(7–8):1610–2.
- [10] Kimura M, Terashita Y. Superior staple formation with powered stapling devices. Surg Obes Relat Dis. Mar 1 2016;12(3):668–72.
- [11] American Cancer Society | Cancer Facts & Statistics. American Cancer Society | Cancer Facts & Statistics. Available from:. http://cancerstatisticscenter.cancer.org/. [Internet, cited 2022 Dec 13].
- [12] Prevalence of IBD. Available from:. CDChttps://www.cdc.gov/ibd/data-andstatistics/prevalence.html; 2022. [Internet, cited 2022 Dec 13].
- [13] Sparreboom CL, van Groningen JT, Lingsma HF, Wouters MWJM, Menon AG, Kleinrensink GJ, et al. Different risk factors for early and late colorectal anastomotic leakage in a nationwide audit. Dis Colon Rectum. Nov 2018;61(11):1258–66.
- [14] Zhao M, Liao D, Zhao J. Diabetes-induced mechanophysiological changes in the small intestine and colon. World J Diabetes. Jun 15 2017;8(6):249–69.
- [15] Jørgensen CS, Ahrensberg JM, Gregersen H, Flyvberg A. Tension-strain relations and morphometry of rat small intestine in experimental diabetes. Dig Dis Sci. May 2001;46(5):960–7.
- [16] Liu Y, Zhao J, Liao D, Wang G, Gregersen H. Intestinal mechanomorphological remodeling induced by long-term low-fiber diet in rabbits. Ann Biomed Eng. Dec 1 2017;45(12):2867–78.
- [17] Liu Y, Zhao J, Liao D, Bao L, Gregersen H. Low-residue diet fed to rabbits induces histomorphological and biomechanical remodeling of small intestine. Neurogastroenterol Motil. 2017;29(4):e12983.
- [18] Krol R, Hopman WPM, Smeenk RJ, Van Lin ENJT. Increased rectal wall stiffness after prostate radiotherapy: relation with fecal urgency. Neurogastroenterol Motil. 2012;24(4):339–e166.
- [19] Spence RT, Hirpara DH, Doshi S, Quereshy FA, Chadi SA. Anastomotic leak after colorectal surgery: does timing affect failure to rescue? Surg Endosc. Jan 27 2021. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00464-020-08270-4. [Internet, cited 2022 Jan 5].
- [20] Siri S, Zhao Y, Maier F, Pierce DM, Feng B. The macro- and micro-mechanics of the colon and rectum I: experimental evidence. Bioengineering. Dec 2020;7(4):130.
- [21] Zhao Y, Siri S, Feng B, Pierce DM. The macro- and micro-mechanics of the colon and rectum II: theoretical and computational methods. Bioengineering. Dec 2020;7(4): 152.
- [22] Bharucha AE, Camilleri M. Chapter 141 physiology of the colon and its measurement. In: Yeo CJ, editor. Shackelford's surgery of the alimentary tract. 7th ed. Philadelphia: W.B. Saunders; 2013. p. 1728–39. Available from: https://www. sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/B978143772206200141X. Available from: [Internet, cited 2022 Dec 9].

- [23] Kararli TT. Comparison of the gastrointestinal anatomy, physiology, and biochemistry of humans and commonly used laboratory animals. Biopharm Drug Dispos. 1995;16(5):351–80.
- [24] Gonzalez LM, Moeser AJ, Blikslager AT. Porcine models of digestive disease: the future of large animal translational research. Transl Res. Jul 1 2015;166(1):12–27.
- [25] Graham MF, Diegelmann RF, Elson CO, Lindblad WJ, Gotschalk N, Gay S, et al. Collagen content and types in the intestinal strictures of Crohn's disease. Gastroenterology. Feb 1988;94(2):257–65.
- [26] Mysliwiec AG, Ornstein DL. Matrix metalloproteinases in colorectal cancer. Clin Colorectal Cancer. Feb 1 2002;1(4):208–19.
- [27] Wess L, Eastwood MA, Wess TJ, Busuttil A, Miller A. Cross linking of collagen is increased in colonic diverticulosis. Gut. Jul 1 1995;37(1):91–4.
- [28] Brauchle E, Kasper J, Daum R, Schierbaum N, Falch C, Kirschniak A, et al. Biomechanical and biomolecular characterization of extracellular matrix structures in human colon carcinomas. Matrix Biol. Aug 1 2018;68–69:180–93.
- [29] Attia M, Scott A, Duchesnay A, Carpentier G, Soslowsky LJ, Huynh MB, et al. Alterations of overused supraspinatus tendon: a possible role of glycosaminoglycans and HARP/pleiotrophin in early tendon pathology. J Orthop Res. 2012;30(1):61–71.
- [30] Godwin ARF, Singh M, Lockhart-Cairns MP, Alanazi YF, Cain SA, Baldock C. The role of fibrillin and microfibril binding proteins in elastin and elastic fibre assembly. Matrix Biol. Nov 1 2019;84:17–30.
- [31] Stumpf M, Klinge U, Wilms A, Zabrocki R, Rosch R, Junge K, et al. Changes of the extracellular matrix as a risk factor for anastomotic leakage after large bowel surgery. Surgery. Feb 1 2005;137(2):229–34.
- [32] Dall FH, Jørgensen CS, Houe D, Gregersen H, Djurhuus JC. Biomechanical wall properties of the human rectum. A study with impedance planimetry. Gut. Nov 1 1993; 34(11):1581–6.
- [33] Bharucha AE, Hubmayr RD, Ferber IJ, Zinsmeister AR. Viscoelastic properties of the human colon. Am J Physiol Gastrointest Liver Physiol. Aug 1 2001;281(2):G459–66.
- [34] Petersen P, Gao C, Rössel P, Qvist P, Arendt-Nielsen L, Gregersen H, et al. Sensory and biomechanical responses to distension of the normal human rectum and sigmoid colon. DIG. 2001;64(3):191–9.
- [35] Sloots Felt-Bersma, Cuesta Meuwissen. Rectal visceral sensitivity in healthy volunteers: influences of gender, age and methods. Neurogastroenterol Motil. 2000;12 (4):361–8.
- [36] Smith AN, Shepherd J, Eastwood MA. Pressure changes after balloon distension of the colon wall in diverticular disease. Gut. Oct 1 1981;22(10):841–4.
- [37] Stidham RW, Xu J, Johnson LA, Kim K, Moons DS, Mckenna BJ, et al. Ultrasound elasticity imaging for detecting intestinal fibrosis and inflammation in rats and humans with Crohn's disease. Gastroenterology. Sep 2011;141(3):819.
- [38] Watters DA, Smith AN, Eastwood MA, Anderson KC, Elton RA, Mugerwa JW. Mechanical properties of the colon: comparison of the features of the African and European colon in vitro. Gut. Apr 1985;26(4):384–92.
- [39] Egorov VI, Schastlivtsev IV, Prut EV, Baranov AO, Turusov RA. Mechanical properties of the human gastrointestinal tract. J Biomech. Oct 1 2002;35(10):1417–25.
- [40] Massalou D, Masson C, Afquir S, Baqué P, Arnoux PJ, Bège T. Mechanical effects of load speed on the human colon. J Biomech. Jun 25 2019;91:102–8.
- [41] Massalou D, Masson C, Afquir S, Baqué P, Arnoux PJ, Bège T. Influence of gender, age, shelf-life, and conservation method on the biomechanical behavior of colon tissue under dynamic solicitation. Clin Biomech. May 1 2019;65:34–40.
- [42] Massalou D, Masson C, Foti P, Afquir S, Baqué P, Berdah SV, et al. Dynamic biomechanical characterization of colon tissue according to anatomical factors. J Biomech. Dec 8 2016;49(16):3861–7.
- [43] Howes MK. Injury mechanisms, tissue properties, and response of the postmortem human abdomen in frontal impact. Available from: Virginia Polytechnic and State Universityhttps://www.proquest.com/openview/7a5b21677c232cc181 ada9ce3939072f/1?pq-origsite=gscholar&cbl=18750; 2013. [Internet, cited 2021 Aug 13].
- [44] Stewart DC, Berrie D, Li J, Liu X, Rickerson C, Mkoji D, et al. Quantitative assessment of intestinal stiffness and associations with fibrosis in human inflammatory bowel disease. PloS One. Jul 11 2018.;13(7) Available from: https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih. gov/pmc/articles/PMC6040714/. Available from: Internet, cited 2020 Apr 30].
- [45] Christensen MB, Oberg K, Wolchok JC. Tensile properties of the rectal and sigmoid colon: a comparative analysis of human and porcine tissue. SpringerPlus. Mar 26 2015;4(1):142.
- [46] Carniel EL, Gramigna V, Fontanella CG, Stefanini C, Natali AN. Constitutive formulations for the mechanical investigation of colonic tissues. J Biomed Mater Res A. 2014;102(5):1243–54.
- [47] Puértolas S, Peña E, Herrera A, Ibarz E, Gracia L. A comparative study of hyperelastic constitutive models for colonic tissue fitted to multiaxial experimental testing. J Mech Behav Biomed Mater. Feb 1 2020;102:103507.
- [48] Sokolis DP, Orfanidis IK, Peroulis M. Biomechanical testing and material characterization for the rat large intestine: regional dependence of material parameters. Physiol Meas. Nov 2011;32(12):1969–82.
- [49] Sokolis DP, Sassani SG. Microstructure-based constitutive modeling for the large intestine validated by histological observations. J Mech Behav Biomed Mater. May 1 2013;21:149–66.
- [50] Higa M, Luo Y, Okuyama T, Takagi T, Shiraishi Y, Yambe T. Passive mechanical properties of large intestine under in vivo and in vitro compression. Med Eng Phys. Oct 1 2007;29(8):840–4.
- [51] Rosen J, Brown JD, De S, Sinanan M, Hannaford B. Biomechanical properties of abdominal organs in vivo and postmortem under compression loads. J Biomech Eng. Apr 1 2008;30(2) Available from:. https://asmedigitalcollection-asme-org. libcontent.medtronic.com/biomechanical/article/130/2/021020/452407/ Biomechanical-Properties-of-Abdominal-Organs-In. Available from: [Internet, cited 2019 Nov 6].

- [52] Nováček V, Trần TN, Klinge U, Tolba RH, Staat M, Bronson DG, et al. Finite element modelling of stapled colorectal end-to-end anastomosis: advantages of variable height stapler design. J Biomech. Oct 11 2012;45(15):2693–7.
- [53] Patel B, Chen H, Ahuja A, Krieger JF, Noblet J, Chambers S, et al. Constitutive modeling of the passive inflation-extension behavior of the swine colon. J Mech Behav Biomed Mater. Jan 1 2018(77):176–86.
- [54] Zhao Y, Siri S, Feng B, Pierce DM. Computational modeling of mouse colorectum capturing longitudinal and through-thickness biomechanical heterogeneity. J Mech Behav Biomed Mater. Jan 1 2021;113:104127.
- [55] Baek S, Gleason RL, Rajagopal KR, Humphrey JD. Theory of small on large: potential utility in computations of fluid–solid interactions in arteries. Comput Methods Appl Mech Eng. Jun 15 2007;196(31–32):3070–8.
- [56] Siri S, Maier F, Chen L, Santos S, Pierce DM, Feng B. Differential biomechanical properties of mouse distal colon and rectum innervated by the splanchnic and pelvic afferents. Am J Physiol Gastrointest Liver Physiol. Apr 1 2019;316(4):G473–81.
- [57] Patel B, Guo X, Noblet J, Chambers S, Gregersen H, Kassab GS. Computational analysis of mechanical stress in colonic diverticulosis. Sci Rep. Apr 7 2020;10(1):6014.
- [58] Domingo S, Puértolas S, Gracia-Villa L, Mainar M, Usón J, Puértolas JA. Design, manufacture and evaluation of a NiTi stent for colon obstruction. Biomed Mater Eng. 2005;15(5):357–65.
- [59] Puértolas S, Bajador E, Puértolas JA, López E, Ibarz E, Gracia L, et al. Study of the behavior of a bell-shaped colonic self-expandable NiTi stent under peristaltic movements. Biomed Res Int. Jan 2013;2013:1–10.
- [60] Peirlinck M, Debusschere N, Iannaccone F, Siersema PD, Verhegghe B, Segers P, et al. An in silico biomechanical analysis of the stent-esophagus interaction. Biomech Model Mechanobiol. Feb 2018;17(1):111–31.
- [61] Panda SK, Buist ML. A viscoelastic framework for inflation testing of gastrointestinal tissue. J Mech Behav Biomed Mater. Mar 1 2020;103:103569.
- [62] Carniel EL, Rubini A, Frigo A, Natali AN. Analysis of the biomechanical behaviour of gastrointestinal regions adopting an experimental and computational approach. Comput Methods Programs Biomed. Jan 1 2014;113(1):338–45.
- [63] Ciarletta P, Dario P, Tendick F, Micera S. Hyperelastic model of anisotropic fiber reinforcements within intestinal walls for applications in medical robotics. Int J Robot Res. Oct 1 2009;28(10):1279–88.
- [64] Niederer SA, Sacks MS, Girolami M, Willcox K. Scaling digital twins from the artisanal to the industrial. Nat Comput Sci. May 2021;1(5):313–20.
- [65] Joshi V, Strege PR, Farrugia G, Beyder A. Mechanotransduction in gastrointestinal smooth muscle cells: role of mechanosensitive ion channels. Am J Physiol Gastrointest Liver Physiol. May 1 2021;320(5):G897–906.
- [66] Mercado-Perez A, Beyder A. Gut feelings: mechanosensing in the gastrointestinal tract. Nat Rev Gastroenterol Hepatol. Jan 12 2022:1–14.
- [67] Feng B, Guo T. Visceral pain from colon and rectum: the mechanotransduction and biomechanics. J Neural Transm. Apr 1 2020;127(4):415–29.
- [68] Spencer NJ, Hu H. Enteric nervous system: sensory transduction, neural circuits and gastrointestinal motility. Nat Rev Gastroenterol Hepatol. Jun 2020;17(6):338–51.
- [69] Gregersen H. Biomechanics of the gastrointestinal tract: new perspectives in motility research and diagnostics. Springer Science & Business Media; 2003. (296 p.).
- [70] Mammoto T, Ingber DE. Mechanical control of tissue and organ development. Development. May 1 2010;137(9):1407–20.
- [71] Humphrey JD. Vascular adaptation and mechanical homeostasis at tissue, cellular, and sub-cellular levels. Cell Biochem Biophys. Feb 1 2008;50(2):53–78.
- [72] Humphrey JD, Dufresne ER, Schwartz MA. Mechanotransduction and extracellular matrix homeostasis. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol. Dec 2014;15(12):802–12.
- [73] Famaey N, Sommer G, Vander Sloten J, Holzapfel GA. Arterial clamping: Finite element simulation and in vivo validation. J Mech Behav Biomed Mater. Aug 1 2012; 12:107–18.
- [74] Humphrey JD. Mechanisms of arterial remodeling in hypertension. Hypertension. Aug 2008;52(2):195–200.
- [75] Davies PF. Hemodynamic shear stress and the endothelium in cardiovascular pathophysiology. Nat Rev Cardiol. Jan 2009;6(1):16–26.
- [76] Hosseini HS, Taylor JS, Wood LSY, Dunn JCY. Biomechanics of small intestine during distraction enterogenesis with an intraluminal spring. J Mech Behav Biomed Mater. Jan 1 2020;101:103413.
- [77] Chatterjee M, Muljadi PM, Andarawis-Puri N. The role of the tendon ECM in mechanotransduction: disruption and repair following overuse. Connect Tissue Res. Jan 2022;63(1):28–42.
- [78] Pérez-González C, Ceada G, Matejčić M, Trepat X. Digesting the mechanobiology of the intestinal epithelium. Curr Opin Genet Dev. Feb 1 2022;72:82–90.
- [79] Elmentaite R, Kumasaka N, Roberts K, Fleming A, Dann E, King HW, et al. Cells of the human intestinal tract mapped across space and time. Nature. Sep 2021;597 (7875):250–5.
- [80] Roulis M, Flavell RA. Fibroblasts and myofibroblasts of the intestinal lamina propria in physiology and disease. Differentiation. Sep 1 2016;92(3):116–31.
- [81] Paradiso F, Quintela M, Lenna S, Serpelloni S, James D, Caserta S, et al. Studying activated fibroblast phenotypes and fibrosis-linked mechanosensing using 3D biomimetic models. Macromol Biosci. 2022;22(4):2100450.
- [82] Gallucci RM, Lee EG, Tomasek JJ. IL-6 modulates alpha-smooth muscle actin expression in dermal fibroblasts from IL-6-deficient mice. J Invest Dermatol. Mar 2006; 126(3):561–8.
- [83] Bell R, Gendron NR, Anderson M, Flatow EL, Andarawis-Puri N. A potential new role for myofibroblasts in remodeling of sub-rupture fatigue tendon injuries by exercise. Sci Rep. Jun 12 2018;8(1):8933.
- [84] Rockey DC, Weymouth N, Shi Z. Smooth muscle α actin (Acta2) and myofibroblast function during hepatic wound healing. PloS One. 2013;8(10):e77166.

- [85] Hinz B, McCulloch CA, Coelho NM. Mechanical regulation of myofibroblast phenoconversion and collagen contraction. Exp Cell Res. Jun 1 2019;379(1): 119–28.
- [86] Jadhav U, Saxena M, O'Neill NK, Saadatpour A, Yuan GC, Herbert Z, et al. Dynamic reorganization of chromatin accessibility signatures during dedifferentiation of secretory precursors into Lgr5+ intestinal stem cells. Cell Stem Cell. Jul 6 2017;21(1): 65–77.e5.
- [87] Nowell CS, Odermatt PD, Azzolin L, Hohnel S, Wagner EF, Fantner GE, et al. Chronic inflammation imposes aberrant cell fate in regenerating epithelia through mechanotransduction. Nat Cell Biol. Feb 2016;18(2):168–80.
- [88] Rizzetto L, Fava F, Tuohy KM, Selmi C. Connecting the immune system, systemic chronic inflammation and the gut microbiome: the role of sex. J Autoimmun. Aug 1 2018;92:12–34.
- [89] Yang PJ, LaMarca M, Kaminski C, Chu DI, Hu DL. Hydrodynamics of defecation. Soft Matter. Jul 26 2017;13(29):4960–70.
- [90] Gudipaty SA, Lindblom J, Loftus PD, Redd MJ, Edes K, Davey CF, et al. Mechanical stretch triggers rapid epithelial cell division through Piezo1. Nature. Mar 2017; 543(7643):118–21.
- [91] Gutierrez JA, Perr HA. Mechanical stretch modulates TGF-β1 and α1(I) collagen expression in fetal human intestinal smooth muscle cells. Am J Physiol Gastrointest Liver Physiol. Nov 1999;277(5):G1074–80.
- [92] Manfredonia C, Muraro MG, Hirt C, Mele V, Governa V, Papadimitropoulos A, et al. Maintenance of primary human colorectal cancer microenvironment using a perfusion bioreactor-based 3D culture system. Adv Biosyst. Apr 2019;3(4):e1800300.
- [93] Duscher D, Maan ZN, Wong VW, Rennert RC, Januszyk M, Rodrigues M, et al. Mechanotransduction and fibrosis. J Biomech. Jun 27 2014;47(9):1997–2005.
- [94] Gurtner GC, Dauskardt RH, Wong VW, Bhatt KA, Wu K, Vial IN, et al. Improving cutaneous scar formation by controlling the mechanical environment: large animal and phase I studies. Ann Surg. Aug 2011;254(2):217–25.
- [95] Mascharak S, desJardins-Park HE, Davitt MF, Griffin M, Borrelli MR, Moore AL, et al. Preventing Engrailed-1 activation in fibroblasts yields wound regeneration without scarring. Science. Apr 23 2021;372(6540):eaba2374.
- [96] Chen K, Kwon SH, Henn D, Kuehlmann BA, Tevlin R, Bonham CA, et al. Disrupting biological sensors of force promotes tissue regeneration in large organisms. Nat Commun. Sep 6 2021;12(1):5256.
- [97] Yui S, Azzolin L, Maimets M, Pedersen MT, Fordham RP, Hansen SL, et al. YAP/TAZdependent reprogramming of colonic epithelium links ECM remodeling to tissue regeneration. Cell Stem Cell. Jan 4 2018;22(1):35–49.e7.
- [98] Waninger J, Kauffmann G, Shah I, Farthmann E. Influence of the distance between interrupted sutures and the tension of sutures on the healing of experimental colonic anastomoses. Am J Surg. Mar 1 1992;163(3):319–23.
- [99] Slieker JC, Daams F, Mulder IM, Jeekel J, Lange JF. Systematic review of the technique of colorectal anastomosis. JAMA Surg. Feb 1 2013;148(2):190–201.
- [100] Berho M, Wexner SD, Botero-Anug AM, Pelled D, Fleshman JW. Histopathologic advantages of compression ring anastomosis healing as compared with stapled anastomosis in a porcine model: a blinded comparative study. Dis Colon Rectum. Apr 2014;57(4):506–13.
- [101] Zbar AP, Nir Y, Weizman A, Rabau M, Senagore A. Compression anastomoses in colorectal surgery: a review. Tech Coloproctol. Jun 1 2012;16(3):187–99.
- [102] Lambe T, Riordáin MGÓ, Cahill RA, Cantillon-Murphy P. Magnetic compression in gastrointestinal and bilioenteric anastomosis: how much force? Surg Innov. Feb 1 2014;21(1):65–73.
- [103] Barrie J, Russell L, Hood AJ, Jayne DG, Neville A, Culmer PR. An in vivo analysis of safe laparoscopic grasping thresholds for colorectal surgery. Surg Endosc. Oct 1 2018;32(10):4244–50.
- [104] De S, Rosen J, Dagan A, Hannaford B, Swanson P, Sinanan M. Assessment of tissue damage due to mechanical stresses. Int J Robotics Res. Nov 1 2007;26(11-12): 1159-71.
- [105] Famaey N, Verbeken E, Vinckier S, Willaert B, Herijgers P, Sloten JV. In vivo soft tissue damage assessment for applications in surgery. Med Eng Phys. Jun 1 2010;32 (5):437–43.
- [106] Gawlitta D, Li W, Oomens CWJ, Baaijens FPT, Bader DL, Bouten CVC. The relative contributions of compression and hypoxia to development of muscle tissue damage: an in vitro study. Ann Biomed Eng. Feb 1 2007;35(2):273–84.
- [107] Wang J, Li W, Wang B, Zhou Z. Influence of clamping parameters on the trauma of rabbit small intestine tissue. Clin Biomech. Dec 1 2019;70:31–9.
- [108] Wang J, Yu QY, Li W, Wang BR, Zhou ZR. Influence of clamping stress and duration on the trauma of liver tissue during surgery operation. Clin Biomech. Mar 1 2017; 43:58–66.
- [109] Wu Y, van der Schaft DWJ, Baaijens FP, Oomens CWJ. Cell death induced by mechanical compression on engineered muscle results from a gradual physiological mechanism. J Biomech. May 3 2016;49(7):1071–7.
- [110] Ros SJ, Andarawis-Puri N, Flatow EL. Tendon extracellular matrix damage detection and quantification using automated edge detection analysis. J Biomech. Nov 15 2013;46(16):2844–7.
- [111] Zitnay JL, Li Y, Qin Z, San BH, Depalle B, Reese SP, et al. Molecular level detection and localization of mechanical damage in collagen enabled by collagen hybridizing peptides. Nat Commun. Mar 22 2017;8:14913.
- [112] Khan AF, Macdonald MK, Streutker C, Rowsell C, Drake J, Grantcharov T. Defining the relationship between compressive stress and tissue trauma during laparoscopic surgery using human large intestine. IEEE J Transl Eng Health Med. 2019;7:1–8.
- [113] Buganza Tepole A. Computational systems mechanobiology of wound healing. Comput Methods Appl Mech Eng. Feb 1 2017;314:46–70.
- [114] Oxlund H, Christensen H, Seyer-Hansen M, Andreassen TT. Collagen deposition and mechanical strength of colon anastomoses and skin incisional wounds of rats. J Surg Res. Nov 1 1996;66(1):25–30.

- [115] Månsson P, Zhang X, Jeppsson B, Thorlacius H. Anastomotic healing in the rat colon: comparison between a radiological method, breaking strength and bursting pressure. Int J Colorectal Dis. Nov 1 2002;17(6):420–5.
- [116] Gonçalves CG, Groth AK, Ferreira M, Matias JEF, Coelho JCU, Campos ACL. Influence of preoperative feeding on the healing of colonic anastomoses in malnourished rats. J Parenter Enteral Nutr. 2009;33(1):83–9.
- [117] Hajjar R, Oliero M, Cuisiniere T, Fragoso G, Calvé A, Djediai S, et al. Improvement of colonic healing and surgical recovery with perioperative supplementation of inulin and galacto-oligosaccharides. Clin Nutr. Jun 1 2021;40(6):3842–51.
- [118] Hyoju SK, Adriaansens C, Wienholts K, Sharma A, Keskey R, Arnold W, et al. Lowfat/high-fibre diet prehabilitation improves anastomotic healing via the microbiome: an experimental model. Br J Surg. May 1 2020;107(6):743–55.
- [119] Shogan BD, Belogortseva N, Luong PM, Zaborin A, Lax S, Bethel C, et al. Collagen degradation and MMP9 activation by Enterococcus faecalis contributes to intestinal anastomotic leak. Sci Transl Med. May 6 2015;7(286):286ra68.
- [120] Ceelen W, El Malt M, Cardon A, Berrevoet F, De Neve W, Pattyn P. Influence of preoperative high-dose radiotherapy on postoperative outcome and colonic anastomotic healing. Dis Colon Rectum. May 1 2001;44(5):717–21.
- [121] Olivas AD, Shogan BD, Valuckaite V, Zaborin A, Belogortseva N, Musch M, et al. Intestinal tissues induce an SNP mutation in Pseudomonas aeruginosa that enhances its virulence: possible role in anastomotic leak. PloS One. Aug 31 2012;7(8): e44326.
- [122] Kerem M, Bedirli A, Karahacioglu E, Pasaoglu H, Sahin O, Bayraktar N, et al. Effects of soluble fiber on matrix metalloproteinase-2 activity and healing of colon anastomosis in rats given radiotherapy. Clin Nutr. Aug 1 2006;25(4):661–70.
- [123] Franca A, Ramalho FS, Ramalho LNZ, da Rocha JJR, Féres O. Effects of preoperative pelvic irradiation on colonic anastomosis healing: an experimental study in rats. Acta Cir Bras. 2008;23:24–30.
- [124] Shakhsheer BA, Lec B, Zaborin A, Guyton K, Defnet AM, Bagrodia N, et al. Lack of evidence for tissue hypoxia as a contributing factor in anastomotic leak following colon anastomosis and segmental devascularization in rats. Int J Colorectal Dis. Apr 1 2017;32(4):539–47.
- [125] Hoeppner J, Crnogorac V, Hopt UT, Weiser HF. The pig as an experimental model for colonic healing study of leakage and ischemia in colonic anastomosis. J Invest Surg. Jan 1 2009;22(4):281–5.
- [126] Hamzaoğlu İ, Karahasanoğlu T, Aydın S, Ali Şahin D, Çarkman S, Sarıyar M, et al. The effects of hyperbaric oxygen on normal and ischemic colon anastomoses. Am J Surg. Nov 1 1998;176(5):458–61.
- [127] Verhofstad MHJ, Lange WP, van der Laak JAWM, Verhofstad AAJ, Hendriks T. Microscopic analysis of anastomotic healing in the intestine of normal and diabetic rats. Dis Colon Rectum. Mar 1 2001;44(3):423–31.
- [128] Miltschitzky JRE, Clees Z, Weber MC, Vieregge V, Walter RL, Friess H, et al. Intestinal anastomotic healing models during experimental colitis. Int J Colorectal Dis. Aug 28 2021:1–13.
- [129] Myrelid P, Salim SY, Darby T, Almer S, Melgar S, Andersson P, et al. Effects of antiinflammatory therapy on bursting pressure of colonic anastomosis in murine dextran sulfate sodium induced colitis. Scand J Gastroenterol. Aug 3 2015;50(8): 991–1001.
- [130] Reisinger KW, Schellekens DHSM, Bosmans JWAM, Boonen B, Hulsewé KWE, Sastrowijoto P, et al. Cyclooxygenase-2 is essential for colorectal anastomotic healing. Ann Surg. Mar 2017;265(3):547–54.
- [131] Maslennikova A, Kochueva M, Ignatieva N, Vitkin A, Zakharkina O, Kamensky V, et al. Effects of gamma irradiation on collagen damage and remodeling. Int J Radiat Biol. Mar 4 2015;91(3):240–7.
- [132] Angenete E, Öresland T, Falk P, Breimer M, Hultborn R, Ivarsson ML. Preoperative radiotherapy and extracellular matrix remodeling in rectal mucosa and tumour matrix metalloproteinases and plasminogen components. Acta Oncol. Jan 1 2009; 48(8):1144–51.
- [133] Haubner F, Muschter D, Pohl F, Schreml S, Prantl L, Gassner HG. A co-culture model of fibroblasts and adipose tissue-derived stem cells reveals new insights into impaired wound healing after radiotherapy. Int J Mol Sci. Nov 2015;16(11): 25947–58.
- [134] Siegman MJ, Eto M, Butler TM. Remodeling of the rat distal colon in diabetes: function and ultrastructure. Am J Physiol Cell Physiol. Jan 15 2016;310(2):C151–60.
- [135] Zhao J, Nakaguchi T, Gregersen H. Biomechanical and histomorphometric colon remodelling in STZ-induced diabetic rats. Dig Dis Sci. Aug 1 2009;54(8):1636–42.
- [136] Arhan P, Faverdin C, Persoz B, Devroede G, Dubois F, Dornic C, et al. Relationship between viscoelastic properties of the rectum and anal pressure in man. J Appl Physiol. 1976 Nov 1;41(5):677–82.
- [137] Drewes AM, Frøkjær JB, Larsen E, Reddy H, Arendt-Nielsen L, Gregersen H. Pain and mechanical properties of the rectum in patients with active ulcerative colitis. Inflamm Bowel Dis. 2006 Apr 1;12(4):294–303.
- [138] Parks TG. Rectal and colonic studies after resection of the sigmoid for diverticular disease. Gut. 1970 Feb 1;11(2):121–5.
- [139] Drewes AM, Petersen P, Rössel P, Gao C, Hansen JB, Arendt-Nielsen L. Sensitivity and distensibility of the rectum and sigmoid colon in patients with irritable bowel syndrome. Scand J Gastroenterol. 2001 Jan 1;36(8):827–32.
- [140] Egorov VI, Schastlivtsev V, Turusov RA, Baranov AO. Participation of the intestinal layers in supplying of the mechanical strength of the intact and sutured gut. Eur Surg Res. 2002 Nov;34(6):425–31.
- [141] Qiao Y, Pan E, Chakravarthula SS, Han F, Liang J, Gudlavalleti S. Measurement of mechanical properties of rectal wall. J Mater Sci Mater Med. 2005 Jan 1;16(2): 183–8.
- [142] Siri S, Maier F, Santos S, Pierce DM, Feng B. Load-bearing function of the colorectal submucosa and its relevance to visceral nociception elicited by mechanical stretch. Am J Physiol-Gastrointest Liver Physiol. 2019 Sep 1;317(3):G349–58.

- [143] Glavind EB, Forman A, Madsen G, Svane D, Andersson KE, Tottrup A. Mechanical properties of isolated smooth muscle from human rectum and internal anal sphincter. Am J Physiol-Gastrointest Liver Physiol. 1993 Oct 1;265(4):G792–8.
- sphircter. Am J Physiol-Gastrointest Liver Physiol. 1993 Oct 1;265(4):G792-8.
  [144] Howes MK, Hardy WN. Material properties of the post-mortem colon in high-rate equibiaxial elongation. Biomed Sci Instrum. 2012;48:171-8.
- [145] Gong X, Xu X, Lin S, Cheng Y, Tong J, Li Y. Alterations in biomechanical properties and microstructure of colon wall in early-stage experimental colitis. Exp Ther Med. 2017 Aug;14(2):995–1000.
- [146] Yang J, Zhao J, Nakaguchi T, Gregersen H. Biomechanical changes in oxazoloneinduced colitis in BALB/C mice. J Biomech. 2009 May 11;42(7):811–7.
- [147] Gao C, Gregersen H. Biomechanical and morphological properties in rat large intestine. J Biomech. 2000 Sep 1;33(9):1089–97.
- [148] Stewart DC, Rubiano A, Santisteban MM, Shenoy V, Qi Y, Pepine CJ, et al. Hypertension-linked mechanical changes of rat gut. Acta Biomater. 2016 Nov 1; 45:296–302.
- [149] Watters DAK, Smith AN, Eastwood MA, Anderson KC, Elton RA. Mechanical properties of the rat colon: the effect of age, sex and different conditions of storage. Q J Exp Physiol. 1985;70(1):151–62.